IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MONTANA

DA 20-0396

STATE OF MONTANA, By and through its
SECRETARY OF STATE, COREY STAPLETON,
Appellant,
v.

MONTANA DEMOCRATIC PARTY, TAYLOR BLOSSOM,
RYAN FILZ, MADELEINE NEUMEYER,
and REBECCA WEED, individual electors,
Appellees.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

On appeal from the Montana First Judicial District Court, Lewis and Clark County
Cause No. CDV-2020-856, the Honorable James Reynolds, Presiding.

AUSTIN JAMES
Chief Legal Counsel
Secretary of State's Office
P.O. Box 202801
Helena, MT 59620-2801
406-444-2034
Austin.James@mt.gov
Attorney for Defendant/Appellant

MATTHEW T. MEADE
Smith Oblander & Meade, PC
P.O. Box 2685
Great Falls, MT 59403-2685

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED

1. When does the “Final Act” of § 13-10-601(2) occur which presented the deadline for all withdrawals from the Petition to be submitted?
2. Did the Plaintiffs demonstrate, clearly and convincingly, that material facts regarding the Petitions itself were misrepresented or fraudulent?
3. Do electronic signatures i.e. Docusign satisfy the formality requirements required to withdraw a signature from a Petition under state law?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Two years ago, this Court expressly stated that § 13-10-601(2), Mont. Code Ann., clearly defines precise statutory processes and standards for political parties to become eligible to nominate candidates for public office. The Court further stated the final act of the process was certification by the Secretary. State and county election officials rely upon the plain language of Title 13, and this Court’s interpretation of Title 13 to administer the elections in this state.

When local administrators asked the Secretary for the final date a signer may withdraw from a petition authorizing a minor party to conduct a primary, Title 13 provided the answer for state election officials. Since

nearly statehood, this Court has been clear: the right to withdraw ends when the final action on the petition is complete. The final act occurs once statewide tabulation is complete, and the petition is certified. The precise statutory processes and standards have all completed in this particular case.

Following the completion of tabulation, the Secretary ensured that not a single request for removal remained in any of Montana's 56 counties—nor his office. Per the guidance of this Court, at that time, the allowable time to withdraw from the Petition concluded.

The District Court mistakenly analogized the current situation to an issue before the Wisconsin Supreme Court, which held the government prematurely cut off the right to withdraw from an annexation petition before a council's vote. On this basis, the District Court held that withdrawals must be allowed until after the primary election. However, under Wisconsin law, the final procedural step to annexation was the body's vote. Whereas here, the final procedure for primary eligibility in Montana is certification by the Secretary. The Wisconsin case follows the Montana procedure consistently reiterated by this Court which is that the signer has the right of withdrawal until the final. Where Wisconsin and Montana law differ is what the final act is. One such reiteration, rejected

withdrawals despite the allegation of fraud because they were too late. *State ex rel. Peck v. Anderson* 92 Mont. 298, 13 P.2d 231 (1932).

In *State ex rel. Peck v. Anderson*, the Court acknowledged that clear and convincing evidence of fraud in the contents of the petition could permit the judiciary to step in. *Id.*, at 306, 234. The Court provided examples such as the forgery of signatures.

The record from the underlying hearing is devoid of any evidence that the contents of the petition were misrepresented, or signatures were forged. The Court has never held that petition circulators are required to disclose financial backers of their efforts. In fact, the United States Supreme Court has held that requiring petition signature gatherers to wear badges disclosing their names, whether they were paid, and who their employer was violated the Constitution. *Buckley v. American Constitutional Law Foundation, Inc.*, 525 U.S. 182, 119 S. Ct. 636 (1999). Simply put, in this instance signers agreed with the contents of the petition, which was accurately relayed to them.

The State of Montana must appeal. If allowed to stand, the State will be inundated with lawsuits in addition to its obligations to administer

elections.¹ The District Court's decision cripples state and local election officials ability to send out military, overseas, and absentee ballots, to notify minor party candidates that they are eligible to file, provide prompt election results, and rein in election costs when withdrawals and signatures might necessitate multiple printing of ballots.

The right to withdraw is not limited to minor parties. In fact, the right to withdraw is not limited to elections. The right to withdraw applies to all actions by government requiring a number of citizens to endorse an action in order for the government to move forward, unless the legislature speaks otherwise. To be clear, the Secretary of State is not before the Court to represent a major political party against another major political party. The Secretary of State is here on behalf of the State of Montana to ask the Court to uphold a century old doctrine because the unprecedented ruling by the District Court reshaped the general rule, and will in turn produce lawsuits involving zoning, recall of public officials, petitions, and initiatives.

¹ Amidst working on this brief, the Secretary of State was already notified of a new federal lawsuit over this very issue.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On Friday, March 6, 2020, staff of the State's Voter and Election Services division reported to their department head that they had completed a petition to qualify the Green Party as a minor party eligible for primary election under § 13-10-601 (2), Mont. Code Ann. ("Petition"). The Secretary does not have a way of knowing the exact time and day when the final forwarded sheet of any petition will arrive. Approximately 19,000 people signed the petition, of which approximately 13,000 were accepted as being valid and forwarded to the Secretary. Trs. vol. I 234:13-17.

Once the Petition is received, it is impossible to predict how long it will take to finalize statewide tabulation. But when that occurred for the Petition, the State tabulated all verified petition signatures and accounted for all that wanted to be removed. Before presenting the petition to the Secretary, the director ensured county offices did not have any remaining withdrawal requests in their possession. Trs. vol. I 233:1-24. With everything submitted accounted for, the Secretary was presented with a Petition satisfying the requirements for the minor party's eligibility to hold a primary. *Id.*

In February, the Montana Democratic Party ("MDP") hired an outreach team to contact petition signers, indicating that a conservative dark money group was behind the green party petition. Trs. vol. I 147-152.

The outreach effort resulted in over 150 signers removing their name from the Petition, before the Petition was certified.

Some county officials asked the Secretary whether withdrawal requests may be honored after the deadline to add additional signatures has passed. Trs. vol. II 316:10-14. The deadline to submit new signatures on the Petition occurred on March 2. Mont. Code Ann. § 13-10-601(2)(c). The Secretary instructed counties to time and date stamp all requests, as signers are entitled to remove themselves until final determination of the petition by the State. *Id.* Election officials accounted for all withdrawals submitted before, during, and after county and statewide tabulation. Trs. vol. II 584:12.

Once declared eligible on March 6, 2020, green party candidates had a single business day to file with the state. Trs. vol. I 232:10. By the close of business on March 9th, six individuals filed to run as green party candidates. Trs. vol. I 240:6. At that time, MDP requested all withdrawals in connection with the green party certification. Trs. vol. I 135. At trial, MDP testified to also purchasing a copy of the petition signers report², a

² The Petition Signers Report is a report generated by the counties. The Secretary of State does not have administrative capability to edit the report.

disclaimed,³ generated report of the county tabulation, purchased online from the State. Trs. vol. I 63.

Statute requires the Secretary of State to determine whether a primary for a party eligible to conduct the same is necessary. Mont. Code Ann. § 13-10-209. Due to the number of declared green party candidates for the U.S. Senate race, it was. Had one fewer declared, a primary would have unnecessary, and the nomination of the candidates would instead have been certified to the general election ballot. Trs. vol. I 27-28.

Unexpectedly, in April, county election officials received emails from MDP staff containing electronically signed withdrawal forms. P's Ex. 4. In some cases, officials communicated the request was too late, in others the officials forwarded the email to the Secretary for archive purposes. Trs. vol. II 375. Occasionally, counties received similar emails after the fact including: a handful in May, and the day before the primary election. *Id.*

A few days after the primary election, the Secretary was served with this lawsuit along with an *ex parte* order to show cause. Dkt. No. 3, 4. The order, which says it was based upon the Complaint and "motion", was granted, despite that no motion or application for preliminary injunction

³ The Petition Signers Report download link contains a disclaimer stating the report generated is a live system that changes as counties input data. While some counties updated the report based on withdrawals accepted after county certification, others did not.

was ever filed. *Id.* Under the UDJA, the lawsuit alleged the right to withdraw from a petition is absolute, and if considered, the Secretary was obligated to declare the green party no longer eligible to conduct a primary under § 13-10-601(2). Dkt. No. 1, ¶88-89. In later pleadings, MDP expanded their complaint to add that withdrawals precluded by law should be given effect upon a showing of evidence of fraud in the contents of the petition. Dkt. No. 14.

The Secretary's witness provided testimony at trial was about the convenience, security concerns, and of electronically signed withdrawals. Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order, Dkt. No. 85 (hereafter "FOF" for findings of fact or "COL" for Conclusions of Law), FOF ¶80-82. Trs. vol. I 268-273. As stipulated by the parties, requiring the agency to accept electronically signed withdrawals is dispositive. Individual plaintiffs testified wanting to allow the Green Party on the ballot even though all were planning on voting for MDP candidates. *Id.*, at 145.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A District Court's conclusions and applications of law are reviewed *de novo* for correctness. *Montanans for Justice v. State*, 2006 MT 277, ¶ 20, 334 Mont. 237, 146 P.3d 759. A district court's conclusions of law are

reviewed for correctness. *Sandrock v. DeTienne*, 2010 MT 237, ¶ 13, 358 Mont. 175, 243 P.3d 1123. Likewise, the standard “pertaining to a declaratory judgment is to determine if the court’s interpretation of law is correct.” *Roe v. City of Missoula*, 2009 MT 417, ¶ 15, 354 Mont. 1, 221 P.3d 1200. We review district court findings of fact for clear error. *Montanans for Justice v. State*, 2006 MT 277, ¶ 19, 334 Mont. 237, 146 P.3d 759.

A finding of fact is clearly erroneous only if not supported by substantial evidence, the court misapprehended the effect of the evidence, or we are convinced upon our review of the record that the district court was mistaken. *Montanans for Justice*, ¶ 19 (citing *Petitioners I-549 v. Missoula Irrigation Dist.*, 2005 MT 100, ¶ 8, 326 Mont. 527, 111 P.3d 664). A district court’s issuance of an injunction will be reversed if there has been a “manifest abuse of discretion.” *Shammel v. Canyon Res. Corp.*, 2003 MT 372, ¶¶ 11–12, 319 Mont. 132, 82 P.3d 912 “A ‘manifest’ abuse of discretion is one that is obvious, evident or unmistakable.” *Id.* at ¶ 12.

ARGUMENT

I. THE SECRETARY HONORED THE ABSOLUTE RIGHT TO WITHDRAW BEFORE THE “FINAL ACT.”

Over a century ago, the Montana Supreme Court adopted the general rule that where a certain number of electors is required to initiate proceedings for a public purpose, any person signing the petition has an

absolute right to withdraw his or her name at any time before the person or body created by law to determine the matter submitted by the petition has finally acted. *Ford v. Mitchell*, 103 Mont. 99, 114, 61 P.2d 815, 822 (1936); *State ex rel. Freeze v. Taylor*, 90 Mont. 439 4 P.2d 479, 481 (1931). The right to withdraw under the general rule (hereafter “The Rule”) does not apply if the legislature expresses otherwise. *Id.*

The Secretary honored the right of a signer to withdraw at any time before the final act specified by this Court occurred. The District Court erred by holding that a right to appear on the general election ballot is defined by the statutory process set forth in § 13-10-601(2). However, the process set forth in § 13-10-601(2), Mont. Code Ann., is for primary eligibility alone.

A. Any person signing the petition had an absolute right to withdraw until the final act occurred. Under clear precedent, the final act in this matter is when the Secretary finally determined the subject political party was eligible to conduct a primary election.

Since 1913, under The Rule, the right to withdraw exists until final determination of the petition. *State ex rel. Lang v. Furnish*, 48 Mont. 28, 134 P. 297 (1913); *Ford*, 103 Mont. at 117, P.2d at 823 (“We therefore hold the right to withdraw exists until the Secretary of State has finally determined, in the manner provided by statute, that the petition is sufficient.”)

As indicated previously by this Court, § 13-10-601(2), Mont. Code Ann., clearly defines precise statutory processes and standards for political parties to become eligible for public office. *Larson v. State*, 2019 MT 28, 394 Mont. 167, 434 P.3d 241. Two years ago, this Court noted:

Upon receipt of the forwarded petition sheets, affidavits, and county certifications, the secretary of state must "consider and tabulate" the verified petition signatures and then, upon determining that the petition includes the requisite numbers of verified signatures, **certify the subject political party as eligible to nominate candidates for public office on the upcoming primary election ballot.**

Id., ¶ 3 (emphasis added).

Once a political party petition is presented to the Secretary in satisfaction of § 13-10-601(2)(b), the Secretary completes the final act of the duties prescribed:

By express specification and incorporation by reference, § 13-10-601(2), MCA, clearly defines precise statutory processes and standards for political parties to become eligible to nominate candidates for public office. Section § 13-10-601(2), MCA, imposes specific administrative duties on county election administrators (signature verification, county tabulation, and certification) and the secretary of state (review of county certifications, statewide tabulation, and petition certification).

Larson, ¶ 26.

By holding the matter submitted upon the petition, rather than certification by the Secretary, the District Court concluded a person has an

absolute right to withdraw even after the Secretary—the person created by law to determine the matter—finally acted. The District Court is incorrect.

The District Court determined “[t]he political party qualification statute makes no mention of certification by the Secretary, to the Governor or to anybody else, and no other statute delegates certification authority to him.” COL ¶11, p. 34, ¶11. This determination contradicts precedent and the application of The Rule. *Larson*, ¶ 25 (If upon tabulation the petition is sufficient, “the secretary shall certify the subject political party as eligible”)(*emphasis added*).

The Rule does not permit a withdrawal of a signature after the final determination of the petition required by law to initiate a public process. As explained below, the final determination of the petition is whether a minor party is eligible to use the state primary procedure. The District Court acknowledged:

The act of submitting a political party qualification petition simply authorizes a political party to use the state-administered procedure of a primary election to determine whether to nominate candidates and which candidates to nominate.

COL ¶16.

Despite the Court’s own conclusion that a minor political party’s eligibility to participate in the primary *is* the matter submitted by the

petition, the Court failed to recognize the Secretary's determination as the final procedure of the law which requires submission of the petition.

The Secretary accounted for all withdrawals submitted during signature verification, county tabulation and certification, the Secretary's review of county certifications, and statewide tabulation. Upon completion of statewide tabulation, the Secretary verified the accounting of all withdrawal requests submitted statewide, and certified the Petition, which constituted the final act by the final actor of the precise process and standard for political parties to become eligible.

The right to withdraw under the Rule is limited to "an appropriate manner and at the proper time." *Ford*, ¶ 114. As noted by this Court in 1931, "[n]one of the authorities recognize the right to withdraw from the petition after the same has been finally acted upon by the person or board." *State ex rel. Freeze*, 90 Mont. at 445, 4 P.2d at 481. Except for the lower court, no court has since.

It was not a choice or random chance that State and County election officials declined tabulating withdrawals submitted in the months after certification. Election officials bound by The Rule, acted accordingly in this case.

B. The District Court wrongly applied Wisconsin law over Montana law and confused eligibility to participate in the primary with appearance on the general election ballot

After concluding: (1) “The act of submitting a political party petition simply authorizes a political party to use the state-administrated procedure of a primary election”, (2) “The Secretary does not have the authority to certify the results of a political party petition”, the District Court concluded the final act referenced by § 13-10-601(2) occurs when the Board of Canvassers determines the right to placement on the general election ballot, up to 14 days after the primary election.

To support its conclusion, the Court cited Plaintiff’s suggested authority, *Town of Blooming Grove v. City of Madison*, 253 Wis. 215, 33 N.W. 2d 312 (Wisc. 1948). The cited authority does not support the contention that the Board of Canvassers determine eligibility to conduct a primary because the Board of Canvassers are not the final actors of § 13-10-601. In *Town of Bloomington*, the Wisconsin court held that the government prematurely cut off the right to withdraw from an annexation petition before a council’s vote. However, under Wisconsin law, the final procedural step to annexation was the body’s vote.

The court’s reliance on *Town of Bloomington* to interpret Montana law is misplaced. As the Wisconsin court states in the opinion,

Courts in the various states are not in accord as to when the right to withdraw a signature from a petition terminates. There are courts holding that the right expires at the time of filing the petition, others when the sufficiency of the petition has been determined, some that it expires when jurisdiction attaches, and still others that the right continues until final action is taken upon the petition.

Town of Blooming Grove v. City of Madison, 253 Wis. 215,218 33 N.W.2d 312,314 (Wis. 1948)

While Wisconsin caselaw regarding petitions for annexation of territory to a municipal unit states the final act was the vote⁴ by the city council, in Montana for petitions for minor parties is the mere access to the ballot, the final act is the certification of the petition by the Secretary, as determined by this Court. *Larson v. State*, 2019 MT 28, 394 Mont. 167, 434 P.3d 241. The holding of the court in *Town of Bloomington* is not inconsistent with the Secretary's position, and its holding is illustrative in this case.

⁴ The material part of the statute involved follows: "62.07(1) Annexation procedure. Territory adjacent to any city may be annexed to such city in the manner following: "(a) A petition therefor shall be presented to the council (1) signed by a majority of the electors in such adjacent territory and by the owners of one third of the taxable property thereof, according to the last tax roll, or (2) if no electors reside therein by the owners of one half of said taxable property, or (3) by a majority of the electors and the owners of one half of the real estate in assessed value; . . . "(b) An ordinance annexing such territory to the ward or wards named therein shall be introduced at a regular meeting of the council after the filing of the petition, be published once each week for four successive weeks in the official paper and thereafter be adopted at a regular meeting by three fourths of all the members of the council."

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