08/17/2020

Bowen Greenwood

CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT

STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 20-0396

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA DA 20-0396

COREY STAPLETON, in his official capacity as Montana Secretary of State,

Defendant and Appellant,

v.

MONTANA DEMOCRATIC PARTY, TAYLOR BLOSSOM, RYAN FILZ, MADELEINE NEUMEYER, and REBECCA WEED, individual electors,

Plaintiffs and Appellees.

#### **APPELLEES' BRIEF**

#### **APPEARANCES:**

Peter Michael Meloy Austin James
MELOY LAW FIRM Chief Legal Counsel

P.O. Box 1241 Secretary of State's Office

Helena, MT 59624 P.O. Box 202801

mike@meloylawfirm.com Helena, MT 59620-2801 Austin.james@mt.gov

Matthew Gordon Matthew Meade

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

# A. The signers withdrew their signatures before any certificates of nomination issued and thus before final action on the political party qualification petition.

The District Court correctly held that the withdrawal requests at issue here—all completed prior to the June 2, 2020 Primary Election—are valid because they were submitted before "final action." The meaning of "final action" is not defined in statute, and courts in Montana and other states have interpreted the phrase based on the nature of the particular petition and its function within the statutory framework that authorizes its use.

The unique characteristics of petitions for political party qualification in Montana compel the conclusion that action on such a petition is not final until votes have been cast and canvassed in the primary election and after certificates of

nomination have issued. This is because filing a political primary qualification petition is one of several initial steps in a process through which voters ultimately decide whether to nominate candidates for the general election. Primary election voters—not petition signers, and not the Secretary—ultimately decide whether to nominate candidates for office, and the state canvassing board, which counts those votes and issues certificates of nomination, is "the person or body created by law to determine the matter submitted by petition[.]" See State ex rel. O'Connell v. Mitchell, 111 Mont. 94, 106 P.2d 180, 181 (1940) (citing Ford, 61 P.2d at 815). Put another way, while filing a political party qualification petition initiates a multi-step procedure that a party's voters may use to determine who to nominate, no one is nominated—and no right to general election ballot access attaches—until primary votes have been cast and counted for candidates running for a party's nomination. Accordingly, no final action is taken on the petition until that time.

Courts in other jurisdictions have reached similar conclusions. For example, the Wisconsin Supreme Court allowed signatories to a petition for annexation to withdraw their signatures until the city council adopted the annexation ordinance. *See Town of Blooming Grove v. City of Madison*, 253 Wis. 215, 221, 33 N.W.2d 312, 315 (1948). There, the voters' signatures on the petition were not enough: the proposed ordinance also had to be introduced, published, and adopted by the city council by a three-quarter majority. *Id.* That court reasoned that the introduction and

publication of the ordinance—which was initiated by the filing of a petition deemed to have a sufficient number of signatures—were intermediate procedural steps, but that no rights were perfected until the council officially voted to adopt the ordinance. Accordingly, the court permitted withdrawals up until council's vote. *See id*.

Here, the Secretary, relying on analogies to initiative petitions, insists that his word is "final action" for political party qualification petitions. *See* Br. at 10–13. But his argument falls short for multiple reasons.

First, the Secretary's analogy to initiative petitions is inapt. For example, in Ford v. Mitchell, this Court held that the right to withdraw one's signature from an initiative petition existed until the Secretary of State had finally determined, in the manner provided by statute, that the petition was sufficient. See Ford v. Mitchell, 103 Mont. 99, 61 P.2d 815, 823 (1936). That makes sense in the context of an initiative petition because of the nature of the initiative process itself: initiatives are placed directly on the general election ballot so long as proponents submit enough signatures by the deadline; there is no requirement to first initiate a primary election or to satisfy any other steps or contingencies. See Mont. Const. art. III, § 4. Once the Secretary certifies that an *initiative* petition qualifies for the ballot, Section 13-27-308, MCA, the matter submitted by the petition is placed on the ballot. In this sense, the Secretary's certification—a power expressly conferred upon the Secretary by statute—is final.

But political party qualification petitions serve a much different function. The act of submitting a political party qualification petition simply authorizes a political party to initiate a state-administered procedure (a primary election) to determine whether to nominate candidates and which candidates to nominate. The Secretary's tabulation of signatures on the petition confers no right to placement on the general election ballot—and no statute so holds. Rather, a number of other procedural requirements and contingencies must first be met: candidates for the nomination of the political party must: (1) timely file a declaration of nomination, Section 13-10-201, MCA; (2) not die or withdraw their candidacies, Section 13-10-326, MCA; (3) maintain their constitutional and statutory eligibility for the offices in question, Section 13-12-201(3), MCA; and (4) file certain campaign finance and business disclosure statements and reports, Section 13-37-126, MCA. Most importantly, candidates for a nomination must stand for primary election and receive votes; the act of seeking a party's nomination has no legal significance until votes are canvassed and counted and certificates of nomination are issued. Section 13-15-507, MCA (state canvassing board declares nominated the individual having the highest number of votes); see also Section 13-10-303, MCA (providing that candidates

nominated by more than one party must choose one party or appear on the general election ballot without a party designation).<sup>1</sup>

Second, the Secretary wrongly infers that by tabulating a political party qualification petition, he "certifies" the petition, making his action "final action." Br. 10–12. But as the District Court correctly determined, no statute delegates to the Secretary "certification" authority. Indeed, the statute that empowers the Secretary, after tabulating signatures, to "immediately certify to the governor that the completed petition qualifies for the ballot," does not apply to political party qualification petitions. Rather, it applies to a "petition for referendum, initiative, constitutional convention, or constitutional amendment[.]" Section 13-28-308, MCA. And although the Political Party Qualification Statute incorporates by reference certain statutes applicable to ballot issues, Section 13-28-308, MCA is not among them, see Section 13-10-601, MCA. and it makes no mention of certification by the Secretary, to the Governor or to anybody else. No other statute delegates to

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Secretary contends that, in certain exceptional circumstances not present in this case—in which a small number of candidates are running unopposed in a party's primary—primary ballots need not be printed and candidates may be certified to the general election ballot. 13-10-209(2)–(4), MCA. But this only reinforces that the Secretary's tabulation itself confers no right to placement on the general election ballot. Moreover, the Secretary's certification under this provision occurs under the same timeline as any other nomination—*i.e.*, *after* the results of the primary election have been canvassed. *See* 13-12-201, MCA.

the Secretary the authority to "certify" the inclusion of anything on any ballot for political party qualification petitions.<sup>2</sup>

Third, the Secretary unpersuasively attempts to recharacterize a political party qualification petition as simply a request to issue ballots that have a party's name on them—rather than a request to *nominate candidates* using a primary election. Br. at 10, 12–13, 16 (arguing that eligibility to participate in a primary is the "matter submitted by the petition"). The Secretary is wrong. Under Montana law, the very purpose of holding primary elections is to determine the candidates who are entitled to general election ballot access as their party's nominee. Section § 13-10-601(2)(a), MCA (minor parties "may qualify to *nominate its candidates* by primary election by presenting a petition") (emphasis added); *Larson*, ¶ 3 ("To be eligible *to nominate candidates for election to public offices* on the ballot in Montana, political parties

\_\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Secretary and *amici* make much of two sentences in this Court's opinion in *Larson* that summarized officials' administrative duties regarding political party qualification petitions, which used the term "certify" to describe the Secretary's role. *See Larson*, ¶¶ 3, 25. But these sentences were not referring to any statutorily conferred authority to "certify" the inclusion of candidates on any ballot. *See id.* (citing 13-27-303 to -307, MCA, but not citing 13-27-308, MCA, providing for certification to the Governor). Rather, the Court was simply articulating that when the Secretary tabulates a sufficient number of signatures (and announces that tabulation), a party becomes eligible to initiate the procedural mechanism of a primary election to nominate its candidates.

must qualify as specified by § 13-10-601, MCA.") (emphasis added).<sup>3</sup> Indeed, holding a primary election has no public purpose independent of nominating candidates who are then entitled to appear on the general election ballot. As a result, that the Secretary's tabulation of signatures for a political party qualification petition permits that party to begin to take procedural steps towards nominating candidates in a primary election does not mean that the Secretary's tabulation constitutes final action on "the matter submitted" by the petition—*i.e.* the party's nomination of candidates through a primary election. Only the voters can do that.

B. The Secretary of State's failure to conduct a transparent process consistent with constitutional mandates on open government means that his March 6, 2020 announcement cannot constitute "final action" under the circumstances presented here.

The District Court also correctly held that, even accepting the Secretary's claim that, under some circumstances, he could take "final action" on a political party qualification petition, the Secretary's failure to conduct a transparent process consistent with Montana's constitutional mandate on open government meant that his March 6 announcement in this case could not have constituted final action. *See* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> For example, when petition signers sign the Secretary's own Political Party Qualification Petition, they affirm the following statement: "We, the undersigned registered voters of the state of Montana hereby request that in accordance with 13-10-601, MCA, the names of the candidates running for public office from the [name of party] Party *be nominated as provided by law.*" (emphasis added). Mont. Sec. of State, Political Party Qualification Petition, https://sosmt.gov/Portals/142/Elections/Documents/Officials/Political-Party-Qualification-Petition.pdf.

COL ¶¶ 21–31. The Secretary's opening brief does not contest the factual basis for the District Court's holding and it offers no argument as to why the District Court erred as a matter of law. The District Court's opinion can and should be affirmed on this basis alone. *See Mountain W. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. v. Brewer*, 2003 MT 98, ¶ 9, 315 Mont. 231, 234, 69 P.3d 652, 654 ("[I]f a party fails to raise an issue or argue it in his or her brief, we will deem the issue waived and will not address it.") (citations omitted).

In any event, the District Court correctly held that the Secretary's actions in connection with the Petition in this case cannot constitute a final action. Article II, Sections 8 and 9 of the Montana Constitution require agencies to conduct a transparent process open to public input "prior to the final decision." See Mont. Const. art. II, § 8; Bryan v. Yellowstone Ctv. Elementary Sch. Dist. No. 2, 2002 MT 264, ¶ 39, 312 Mont. 257, 269, 60 P.3d 381, 390. The Secretary's conduct was anything but transparent. Among other things, the Secretary never issued any public guidance—let alone rules or other formal policy statement—regarding: (1) when he would make a sufficiency determination, (2) what he believed to be the deadline for withdrawing from the petition, (3) that he would refuse to honor withdrawal forms submitted after the (spontaneously decided) date of his sufficiency determination; (4) what he believed to be the formal requirements for a withdrawal; or (5) that he would refuse to honor electronically signed withdrawal forms. See FOF ¶¶ 44–50. While the Secretary eventually took positions on these questions—in some cases, midway through litigation—those decisions were *ad hoc*, internally contradictory, unsupported by statute, and hidden from the public. FOF ¶¶ 51–59. Most remarkably, the Secretary tabulated the signers of the petition in a secret decisional document, whose existence was revealed for the first time at trial. This crucial document has never been disclosed to the public, to Plaintiffs-Appellees, or even to the court below. *See id.* ¶¶ 98–103.

The District Court's reasoning was sound. First, the District Court reasoned that while this Court has not definitively resolved what "final action" generally means in the context of a political party qualification petition, "final action" by "a person or body created by law to determine the matter" presupposes an orderly process with clear notice, procedures, rules, and timelines: "[i]t cannot be what the Secretary contends it is under these circumstances: an announcement of sufficiency based upon a decisional document hidden from the public, made without any prior notice that the Secretary would refuse to honor any additional withdrawal requests past a certain date, let alone what that date would be, and made without any prior notice of purported procedural requirements that withdrawal requests would have to satisfy." COL ¶ 24.

Second, the District Court reasoned that "final action" necessarily presupposes a "final decision" within the meaning of Article II, Section 8 of the

Montana Constitution. COL ¶ 25. As a result, "the Secretary's choice to shield the process, applicable procedural requirements, and decisional documents from the public means that his decision cannot be a 'final action.'" *Id.*; see Bryan, ¶¶ 39, 44 (holding that school district violated a parent's rights by keeping secret the spreadsheet underlying its decision to close a school); id. ¶ 55 (holding that violations rendered school district's decision void). The District Court grounded this reasoning in similar legal principles codified in in the Montana Administrative Procedure Act, which requires that state agencies "make available for public inspection all rules and all other written statements of policy or interpretations formulated, adopted, or used by the agency in the discharge of its functions." See COL ¶ 26 (citing Section 2-4-103(1)(a), MCA). When an agency fails to do so, it exceeds its authority, and its interpretations have no legal effect. See Section 2-4-103(3), MCA ("No agency rule is valid or effective against any person or party whose rights have been substantially prejudiced by an agency's failure to comply with the public inspection requirement herein.").

The District Court did not err. The open government provisions of the Montana Constitution prohibit secret decision-making and undisclosed rules and procedures that restrict Montanans' rights. Like all constitutional officers, the Secretary's authority must be bound by constitutional constraints. The power that the Secretary now claims—to certify a petition on a previously unannounced date,

based on secret documents, undivulged criteria, and undisclosed procedural requirements, and to simultaneously curtail signers' ability to exercise their absolute right to withdraw their signatures—would directly conflict with those constitutional protections. The need for basic transparency is even more important where, as here, the Secretary has zero statutorily or constitutionally conferred authority to impose these kinds of rules and procedural requirements for withdrawals from political party qualification petitions. *See* COL ¶¶ 11, 19, 27-30, 57. *Larson*, ¶ 41 ("[N]either the Montana Constitution, § 13-10-601(2), MCA, nor other statutory provisions incorporated therein vest the secretary of state with unilateral discretion to determine the substantive or procedural requirements for political party ballot qualification petitions.").

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